
 

 

County Buildings, Stafford 
DDI 01785 276539 

Please ask for Joanna Piech 
Email: joanna.piech@staffordshire.gov.uk 

 

 
Countryside and Rights of Way Panel 
 
Friday 19 January 2024 
10:00 
Oak Room, County Buildings, Stafford 
 
The meeting will be webcast live and archived for 12 months. It can be viewed 
at the following link: https://staffordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home  
 

John Tradewell 
Deputy Chief Executive and Director for Corporate Services 

11 January 2024 
 

 
Agenda 

  
1.  Apologies  
    
2.  Declaration of Interest  
    
3.  Minutes of meeting held on 8th December 2023 (Pages 3 - 6) 
    
4.  LF602G s53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 

Application to upgrade Public Footpath 18 
Swynnerton to a Public Bridleway 

(Pages 7 - 246) 

    
5.  Exclusion of the Public  
   
 The Chairman to move: 

 
“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items of business which involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
(as amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 indicated below”. 
______________________________________________________ 
 
Part Two 
(All reports in this section are exempt) 

 

   
 
 

https://staffordshire.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

Membership 

Jak Abrahams 
Robert Pritchard 
David Smith 
Paul Snape 

Carolyn Trowbridge 
Jill Waring 
Mark Winnington (Chair) 

 
Notes for Members of the Press and Public 
 
Filming of Meetings 
 
Staffordshire County Council is defined as a Data Controller under the Data 
Protection Act 2018. The County Council has agreed that public meetings should 
be the subject of live web transmission ‘webcasting’. Fixed cameras are located 
within meeting room for this purpose.  
 
The webcast will be live on the County Council’s website and recorded for 
subsequent play-back for 12 months. The recording will also be uploaded to 
YouTube. By entering the meeting room and using the seats around the 
meeting tables you are deemed to be consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings for the purpose of 
webcasting.  
 
If you have privacy concerns about the webcast or do not wish to have your 
image captured, then please contact the Member and Democratic Services 
officer named at the top right of the agenda. 
 
Recording by Press and Public 
 
Recording (including by the use of social media) by the Press and Public is 
permitted from the public seating area provided it does not, in the opinion of 
the chairman, disrupt the meeting. 
 



 

Minutes of the Countryside and Rights of Way Panel Meeting held on 8 
December 2023 

 
Present: Mark Winnington (Chair) 

 
Attendance 

David Smith   
 

 
Apologies: Jak Abrahams, Robert Pritchard, Paul Snape, Carolyn Trowbridge 
and Jill Waring 
 
Part One 
 
33. Declaration of Interest 

 
There were no declarations of interest on this occasion. 

 
34. Minutes of meeting held on 10 November 2023 

 
Resolved – That the minutes of the meeting held on 10 November 2023 
be confirmed and signed by the Chairman. 

 
35. Definitive Map Modification Order Backlog 

 
The Panel were presented with a report from the Director for Corporate 
Services updating the position regarding the Definitive Map Modification 
Order application backlog and it was reported that the number of 
applications had increased in recent years, but the number of outstanding 
directed applications is decreasing. However, there were a number of 
appeals and public inquiries which impact the County Councils ability to 
process the outstanding applications.  

 
The Panel were also informed that one report had been determined using 
delegated powers, and that work was ongoing in relation to ICT solutions 
and alternative resolutions which were intended to reduce officer time in 
processing applications, and a further update will be reported to Panel at a 
future meeting.  

 
The Panel queried if the reason for the backlog was a lack of resource. In 
response, the Committee were informed that it was. The Panel agreed for 
the Chairman to invite the Cabinet Member for Communities and Culture 
to a meeting discuss the backlog and next steps.  

 
Resolved – That (a) the report be noted. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

(b) the Chairman invite the Cabinet Member for Communities and Culture 
to discuss the backlog of Definitive Map and Modification Orders and next 
steps.  

 
36. Application to upgrade Public Footpath 18, Quarnford to a 

Restricted Byway 
 

The Panel considered a report from the Director for Corporate Services for 
an application to upgrade Public Footpath 18, Quarnford to a Restricted 
Byway. 
 
The report was presented verbally to take Members through the historical 
evidence relevant to the application. Members were made aware that they 
should examine the evidence in its totality. During their consideration of 
the application, Members had regard to the Appendices attached to the 
report including: 
 

• Copy of application and associated submitted letters and documents.  
• Plan of claimed route. 
• 1929 Handover Map for the parish of Quarnford. 
• Landowner questionnaire dated December 2018 
• Copies of statutory consultee responses 
• Cope of Parish Survey Card for Public Footpath 18, Quarnford. 
• Copy of applicant’s response and further evidence to draft report 

and copy of officer’s response. 
• Copy of applicant’s further letter and comments regarding evidence, 

including further OS maps. 
 
The Panel decided that the available evidence was not sufficient to 
conclude that Public Footpath 18, Quarnford, should be upgraded to a 
Restricted Byway and should not be upgraded to the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way as such.  
 
Decided – That (a) the evidence submitted by the applicant and that 
discovered by the County Council was not sufficient to show that Public 
Footpath 18, Quarnford has the status of a Restricted Byway.   
 
(b) an Order should not be made to upgrade Public Footpath 18 as shown 
on the plan attached at Appendix B and marked A to B to a Restricted 
Byway to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way for the 
District of Staffordshire Moorlands. 

 
37. Application for the addition of a Byway Open to All Traffic from 

Clayalders Bank to Footpath 62 Eccleshall 
 

The Panel considered a report from the Director for Corporate Services for 
an application for the addition of a Byway Open to All Traffic from 

Page 4



 

Clayalders Bank to Footpath 62 Eccleshall. 
 
The report was presented verbally to take Members through the various 
legal documentary and historical evidence relevant to the application. 
Members were made aware that they should examine the evidence in its 
totality. During their consideration of the application, Members had regard 
to the Appendices attached to the report including: 
 

• Plan of claimed Route  
• Copy of application   
• Copy of 1910 Finance Act Plan 
• Copy of Podmore Tithe Map dated 1838  
• Copy of O.S. Map dated 1817  
• Copy of Teesdale Map dated 1832  
• Landowner Evidence Form and Plan showing the extent of their land  
• Comments received from Statutory Consultees  

 
The Panel decided that the available evidence was not sufficient to 
conclude that a public right of way of any status from Clayalders Bank to 
Footpath 62 Eccleshall subsisted and should not be added to the Definitive 
Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as such.  
 
Decided – That (a) the evidence submitted by the applicant was not 
sufficient to reasonably allege that a public right of way of any 
status which is not shown on the Definitive Map and Statement, shown 
marked A to B on the plan attached at Appendix A to this report exists.   
 
(b) an order should not be made to add the alleged public right of way, 
shown A to B on the plan attached at Appendix A, to the Definitive Map 
and Statement of Public Rights of Way as a byway open to all traffic, or as 
a public right of way of any other status.  

 
38. Application to Add a Public Footpath From Basford Lane to Existing 

Public Footpath 33, Cheddleton 
 

The Panel considered a report from the Director of Corporate Services for 
an application for the addition of an alleged Public Footpath from Basford 
Lane to existing Public Footpath 33, Cheddleton. 
 
The report was presented verbally to take Members through the various 
legal documentary and historical evidence relevant to the application. 
Members were made aware that they should examine the evidence in its 
totality. During their consideration of the application, Members had regard 
to the Appendices attached to the report including: 
 

• Application 
• Plan 

Page 5



 

• Highways Diversion Order 1852 
• Completion Certificate 1853 
• Landowner Submissions 
• Statutory Consultees Responses 

 
The Panel decided that the available evidence was sufficient to conclude 
that a Public Footpath from Basford Lane to existing Public Footpath 33, 
Cheddleton subsisted and should be added to the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way as such.  
 
Decided - That (a) the evidence submitted by the applicant and that 
discovered by the County Council was sufficient to show that a Public 
Footpath subsists on the balance of probabilities along the route marked A 
to B as shown in the report. 
 
(b) an Order should be made to add the right of way shown marked A to B 
on the plan at Appendix B to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public 
Rights of Way for the District of Staffordshire Moorlands at the minimum 
width to be 1m throughout its length. 

 
39. Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved – That the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business which involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as 
amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 indicated below. 

 
 
 
 

Chair 
 

Page 6



Report

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

 Page 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Countryside and Rights of Way Panel  

 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981  

Application for Upgrading Public Footpath 18 Swynnerton to 
Bridleway Status 

Report of the Director for Corporate Services 

Recommendation 

1. That the evidence submitted by the Applicant and that discovered by the 

Council is insufficient to show, on the balance of probabilities, that a 
public bridleway subsists along the route marked “A to B” on the plan 

attached at Appendix B to this report, and therefore should not be 
upgraded to a public bridleway on the Definitive Map and Statement of 

Public Rights of Way as such. 

2. That the evidence submitted by the Applicant in the application is 

sufficient to show, on a balance of probabilities, that a public bridleway 
subsists along the route marked “B to C” on the plan attached at 
Appendix B to this report and therefore should be upgraded on the 

Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as such. 

3. That an Order be made to upgrade the footpath marked “B to C” on the 

attached map at Appendix B to the definitive map and statement of public 
right of way for the District of Stafford. 

 

PART A 

Why is it coming here – what decision is required? 

4. Staffordshire County Council is the authority responsible for maintaining 
the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way as laid out in 

section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”). 
Determination of applications made under the Act to modify the Definitive 

Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way, falls within the terms of 
reference of the Countryside and Rights of Way Panel of the County 

Council’s Regulatory Committee (“the Panel”). The Panel is acting in a 
quasi-judicial capacity when determining these matters and must only 

consider the facts, the evidence, the law and the relevant legal tests. All 
other issues and concerns must be disregarded.  

Local Members’ Interest 

Cllr. J Pert Stafford - Eccleshall 

p 1

Page 8



 

 Page 2 

 

 

5. To consider an application attached at Appendix A for an Order to modify 

the Definitive Map and Statement for the District of Stafford. The effect 
of such an Order, should the application be successful, would: 

(i) upgrade existing footpath 18 Swynnerton Parish to a bridleway on 
the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way under the provisions of 

Section 53(3)(c)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

(ii) The lines of the route which are the subject of the application are 

shown highlighted and marked “A to B” and “B to C” on the plan 
attached at Appendix B. 

6. To decide, having regard to and having considered the application and all 

the available evidence, and after applying the relevant legal tests, 
whether to accept or reject the application. 

 

User Evidence Submitted  

7. The evidence of use takes the form of 14 user statements made by 
members of the public who claim to have used the route over varying 

periods of time. Some user evidence forms were submitted with the 
original application in 1996 and the remaining forms have been submitted 
more recently in 2020.  Copies of their statements are attached at 

Appendix C.   

8. The salient points from the user evidence forms have been compiled into 

a user matrix which can be seen at Appendix D. 

 

Documentary Evidence Submitted  

9. The Applicant, through their representative, also submitted emails and 

documentary evidence in support of the application in 2023 the 
correspondence can be seen at Appendix E. 

10. The documentary evidence in support of the application is a Finance Act 

Map dated 1910 which can be found at Appendix F. 

11. A 1986 Ordnance Survey Map has also been submitted in support of the 

claim and this evidence can be found at Appendix G. 

 

Other Evidence Discovered by the County Council  

12. Officers have conducted research into the extent of the footpath and have 

discovered that a landowner declaration form is in place over some of the 
land in question regarding Public Footpath 18 Swynnerton.  This 
application was lodged with Staffordshire County Council in October 1992 

and again in 2016.  A copy of the landowner declaration forms can be 
found at Appendix H.  

13. Section 31(6) Highways Act 1980 allows landowners to state their 
intentions by depositing with the authority a map and statement.  This 

highlights any ways over their land which they accept to be public rights 
of way.  The landowner then reaffirms this every twenty years.  It is 

p 2

Page 9



 

 Page 3 

 

 

pertinent to the claim that any public use of the land during this period will 

not the count towards the establishment of new or upgrading existing 
public rights of way. 

14. It is significant to note however, that the lodging of a s31(6) application 
will not defeat an application where it is possible to establish a 20-year 

period before the initial deposition of the statement and plan as considered 
further in the report. 

15. Officers obtained a copy of the Parish Survey Card and evidence in relation 
to Public Footpath 18 Swynnerton. This can be found at Appendix I. 

16. According to the records, Public Footpath 18 was originally assumed to 

be private, but following an exchange of letters, it was added to the parish 
survey as a public footpath in 1953. 

17. Swynnerton Parish Council were consulted by the County Planning 
Development Officer on 6th July 1953 in connection with the route in 

question following a survey of public rights of way in Swynnerton Parish.  

18. The path was originally surveyed under the National Parks and Access to 

the Countryside Act 1949 and a letter addressing the queries which arose 
from the inspection included that path 18 which had originally been 
considered by the survey as a private path.  

19. A letter to the County Planning Officer dated June 1953 addressed the 
issues in respect of the gates along the route and confirmed that HM 

Forestry Commission states that “the only know public footpath within the 
area is the one from Dukes Lodge to Hobgoblin Gate”.  “On reforestation 

the field gates on the Duke’s Lodge – Hobgoblin Gate portion were chained 
and padlocked, but on representation being made by the society, the state 

Forests Officers at Upton Grange wrote “on making inquiries I find that the 
Forester has fenced the area and erected a gate across the Right of Way 
from Dukes Lodge to Hobgoblin Gate.  I have therefore instructed him to 

unlock the gate and leave it unlocked and I trust that this arrangement 
will be acceptable to you”. 

20. The Parish Council responded to the query raised by the County Planning 
Officer and confirmed on 4th August 1953 that the path in question “should 

be included as a public footpath”. 

21. The Parish Survey record card in respect of Public Footpath 18 Swynnerton 

details the route and confirms it has been used by members of the public 
for more than 20 years. 

22. There is no evidence to suggest that there were any other objections at 

that time to the status of the route in question being included on the 
Definitive Map and Statement with the classification of a public footpath. 

23. Officers also examined the Parish Survey card records in respect of Public 
Bridleway 9 Whitmore, which joins Public Footpath 18 Swynnerton at a 

section to the south-east of Acton Hill Farm. This can be found at Appendix 
J. 

24. It can be seen from the records, that whilst this was recorded originally as 
a footpath, this was queried at the time, and upgraded due to the mention 

p 3

Page 10



 

 Page 4 

 

 

of the use of “motors” recorded on the Parish record card.  The route was 

added to the Definitive Map as a bridleway. 

25. The map shows that Public Bridleway 9 Whitmore finishes south-east of 

Action Hill Farm. 

 

Evidence Submitted by the Landowners 

26. The Forestry Commission provided confirmation in their letter dated May 

1996 that there was permissive use granted over the land.  A number of 
the users have provided confirmation that this was also in place.  Their 
letter dated 2nd May and 19th May 1996 are attached at Appendix K. 

27. The letter from the Forestry Commission indicates that Lord Stafford was 
persuaded to allow the Forestry Commission to “use the woodland for 

public recreation and in particular horse riding through a permit system, 
policed by local riders”.  Permissive use can be fatal to a claim. 

28. John German on behalf of the Freehold landowner, responded to the initial 
consultation and completed a landowner evidence form. They confirmed 

that the land was leased to the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food 
in 1948 on a 999-year lease.  

29. John German also noted that the Forestry Commission lodged with 

Staffordshire County Council a notice accepting a public right of way across 
the land a “few years ago” and have been operating a system of riding by 

permit only for some of the time.  

30. A copy of their evidence form and letter can be found at Appendix L. 

31. When Officers consulted the Forestry Commission in 2023, in contrast to 
that evidence received in May 1996 and the evidence provided by users, 

a short reply indicating that they were not aware of a permit system for 
horse riders at “Swynnerton Old Park”.  There were no other comments or 
evidence provided in relation to the land over which the claimed path runs.  

A copy of the email can be found at Appendix M. 

32. Landowner A has evidenced within their form that they do not own the 

land affected by the proposal but the land adjacent to it.  Their evidence 
form states that they have been resident at their current address for 23 

years and have always believed the path referred to is a bridleway and in 
the ownership of Staffordshire County Council.   

33. A copy of the evidence form can be found at Appendix N. 

34. Landowner A indicated that “a kissing gate” was erected but removed by 
the Council due to objections to the S.C.C” in May 2020.  

35. Landowner B returned a landowner evidence form in 2023, owning land 
adjacent to the path subject to the claim.  Landowner B considers the route 

to be a footpath only and contends that the route into the wood is private 
land with “no public access” and there are signs on the gates in place to 

suggest this.   

p 4

Page 11



 

 Page 5 

 

 

36. Landowner B has seen people using the way on foot and horse back on a 

daily basis. 

37. Landowner B clarified their position in relation to the erection of kissing 

gates along the route in 2020.  Upon taking ownership of the adjoining 
land; discussions were held with the Council “to agree to work to reinstate 

the footpath for its intended use.  The Council agreed to carry out 
drainage, base preparation and resurfacing of the footpath the over growth 

of trees and shrubs were trimmed back to footpath width, the Council 
would only agree to the repairs if two sets of kissing gates were installed, 
on the route. This work was completed in spring 2020, the Council then 

removed the gates within 2 weeks due to complaints from horse riders 
who would not have been able to use the path”. 

38. At this time landowner B highlighted concerns regarding tree surveys and 
the impact to the woodland that would be affected by the widening of the 

existing right of way.  

39. Landowner B objects to the application and the path being upgraded to a 

bridleway as the path is not wide enough. 

40. A copy of the landowner response form and landowner email can be found 
at appendix O. 

41. Landowner C returned a landowner evidence form in 2023, indicating that 
they own land adjacent to the claimed path.   

42. The evidence form can be seen at Appendix P. 

43. Landowner C claims that their family has owned their part of the land 

adjacent to a section of the route in question for “over 150 years” and this 
is used for grazing and crops.   

44. Landowner C states, “I am aware this has been a bridleway for my lifetime 
and my father’s lifetime” and the path has been regularly used by horses, 
walkers and cyclists on a daily basis. 

45. Landowner C also indicates that a “gate was erected but immediately 
requested to be removed by the Council as not permitted”. 

 

Comments Received from Statutory Consultees 

46. Swynnerton Parish Council responded to the initial consultation upon 
receipt of the application, and they confirmed that no objections had been 

made to the application.   

47. This response can be seen at Appendix Q. 

48. Stafford Borough Council also responded to the initial consultation and 

confirmed that they had no comments to make in connection with the 
application.   

49. This can be seen at Appendix R. 

50. The Ramblers Association responded to the initial consultation and 

confirmed that they had no further information to provide at that time and 
their letter can be found at Appendix S. 

p 5

Page 12



 

 Page 6 

 

 

 

Comments on Evidence 

User Evidence  

51. Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 sets out the test that must be 
satisfied for a way to become a public highway through usage by the 

public.  

52. In 1932 the Rights of Way Act introduced the statutory presumption of 

dedication by the landowner of a public right of way which could be 
proven by evidence of twenty years usage as of right and without 
interruption.  

53. This presumption could be rebutted by the landowner providing that he 
had shown that he had no such intention to dedicate the route. However, 

the onus was on the landowner to do so.  

54. For the application to be successful, it will have to be shown that the 

public have used the alleged route, as of right and without interruption, 
for a period of at least twenty years prior to the status of the route being 

brought into question, or that it can be inferred by the landowner’s 
conduct that he had actually dedicated the route as a public right of way, 
and the right of way has been accepted by the public. 

55. For the purposes of the report the application route has been split into two 
sections marked “A to B” and “B to C” on the map attached at Appendix 

B.   

56. The land marked “A to B” of the attached plan is Crown Land and is owned 

by the Forestry Commission.  A landowner declaration form is also lodged 
in respect of this land, and this is discussed earlier within the report.   

57. The statutory test will therefore fail in relation to the section of the route 
marked “A to B” and so the legal test to be applied to the route marked “A 
to B” is Common Law.   

58. For the route marked “B to C” on the attached plan at Appendix B both the 
Statutory test and the Common Law test will be considered.   

59. Therefore, in order to consider the application; the legal tests will need to 
be considered independently in respect of the two sections of the route. 

60. For section “A to B” of the route the landowner lodged a S31(6) declaration 
over the land, 1992.  The relevant period has been taken to be from 1972 

to 1992 - as this is 20 years prior to the challenge date. 

61. The evidence of use is relatively low, in that only 14 users testified to using 
the route and have submitted user evidence forms.  Of these users, 7 

users claim to have used the section of the route marked “A to B” after 
the landowner declaration was submitted in 1992. 

62. There are 8 users who have used the route during the relevant twenty-
year period, but only 2 of these are for the entirety of that period. 

p 6

Page 13



 

 Page 7 

 

 

63. Four of the user evidence forms submitted are for use 8 years prior to the 

relevant 20-year period. Two of these users are father and daughter as 
detailed below.  

64. There is also 6-year period where there is no evidence of use.  

65. User A is the owner and resident at a local riding school and has indicated 

that “when the forestry permit system was introduced, Hobgoblin gate was 
replaced by a vehicle gate which is locked”.  “At Dukes lodge the bridle 

gate was replaced by a kissing gate for pedestrians and a bridle gate was 
replaced on the other side of the vehicle gate as part of the permit systems 
key holders only gate”.  This notation of a permit system is fatal to the 

claim as this identifies that permission has been granted to users for use 
on horseback. This evidence supports the evidence received from the 

Forestry Commission in respect of the route. 

66. User B has purported to use the route since 1920 to 1960 on horseback 

with family and has indicated there have never been any stiles or gates 
along the route in question.   

67. User B had always considered the way to be a public bridleway. 

68. It is crucial to note from correspondence from the County Planning Officer 
dated June 1953 and referred to at paragraph 17 - that the gates had been 

padlocked and chained in 1953 and subsequently unlocked.  This is not 
mentioned in the user evidence form of User B. 

69. This use does not fall within the relevant 20-year period, however, it does 
raise uncertainty to the continuous use of the route of users B and C 

without obstruction until 1960. There is no mention in the forms that there 
had been padlocked gates along the route which was used. 

70. User C is of the same abode as user B and rode the route on horseback 
frequently together.  User C indicates in their statement that “my father 
and I were riding our horses along the side of the path with the locked 

gate on it”.  The form was signed and dated in 1992 and the assertation 
clause accompanying the form is dated 1994. 

71. In relation to the dates stated on the form, the user claims to have known 
the way for 40 years, however the date of use has been calculated when 

the user turned 16.  It is from this age they are considered to have used 
the route, as of right.   

72. There is no evidence of use provided after 1960 for users B and C despite 
the form being completed and signed in 1994, 34 years after use 
discontinued. 

73. User D has confirmed they used the route 4 times a week for pleasure 
purposes and reported two locked gates along the route in 1992 and 

marked these on the attached map. 

74. User E’s use has again been calculated from when they were post 16 years 

of age and considered using the route as of right. Any use prior to the age 
of 16 would not be considered as of right.   

p 7

Page 14



 

 Page 8 

 

 

75. User E has used the route on foot and horseback for pleasure purposes 

and indicated that there was a “swing gate attached to a large gate… at 
the top corner of hobgoblins gate - and double gates attached to a swing 

gate following out on road opposite Hanchurch Picnic area”. 

76. User F, who’s use has again been calculated from when they reached 16, 

referenced wooden gates at each end of the route that were “usually 
open”. (sic) 

77. There is no evidence of use for 29 years for user F between 1963 and the 
time at which the evidence form was signed in 1992. 

78. User G, again who’s use has been calculated from when they reached 16 

provides further exposition. They stated there was a 10-year break in the 
use of the route between 1962 and 1972.  

79. The user claimed there was a permit in place by the Forestry Commission 
from 1992 and the user paid for a permit to use the way.   

80. User G also states that “the bridleway used to be fenced so there was no 
riding in the wood”. (sic) 

81. User H, again whose use has been calculated from when they reached 16, 
stated their use was for pleasure and on a regular basis.  The user indicates 
that there were “gates along the route but were clearly marked for 

horses”.   

82. User H also claims that gates were chained and padlocked along the route, 

with wicket gates still open for use, but there is no date given for when 
this occurred.  The user claims a hand painted horse-shoe sign was placed 

to the side of the gate. 

83. User I claims to have used the route for 16 years, and during that time 

the Forestry Commission closed the woods to riders except those holding 
permits. 

84. Of the users A to I, 4 of them claimed to have paid for a permit to use the 

route. 

85. The following users submitted evidence in 2020. 

86. User J claims to have used the route for “about” 40 years.   

87. User J claims that two kissing gates were erected along the route in 2020 

by a local landowner, and these were removed shortly after. 

88. There are inconsistencies with the evidence in that user J claims to have 

used the route from 1980, however there is no mention of the locked gates 
into Hanchurch Woods which had been mentioned by previous users who 
submitted their evidence forms with the original application in 1996. 

89. User J suggested that when the kissing gates were erected in 2020, they 
took a “long diversion was taken through Hanchurch woods”. 

90. User K kept their horse at the local stable and has known the way for 26 
years.  The user refers to the erection of the two kissing gates along the 

route in 2020 which were removed shortly after.   

p 8

Page 15



 

 Page 9 

 

 

91. User L has used the route for 25 years and again kept their horse at a local 

stable and used the route as a circular route.  

92. This user also states that there were kissing gates erected along the route 

in 2020 and these were subsequently removed.  

93. User M has used the route for 23 years, for pleasure purposes on a circular 

route and on a weekly basis, keeping their horse at a local stable.  

94. Again, the user identifies the obstruction of 2 kissing gates along the route 

in 2020, however, these were removed shortly after.  

95. User N has used the route for 41 years. Again, use has been calculated 
from when the user reached 16 and purports that there were no stiles or 

gates along the route.   

96. The route map provided with the evidence form does not highlight the 

route used, although it suggests that the route identified “clearly a lane on 
map. Not just a footpath”. 

97. Again, there are discrepancies with the evidence in that user N claims to 
have used the route from 1978, however there is no mention of 

interruption or gates into Hanchurch woods which does not correspond 
with users who signed their forms in 1994 and submitted their evidence 
with the original application.  

98. User N has also provided a copy of an extract from a book and labelled 
this “local Acton history”.  The source of the evidence is not identified.  

There is no map or plan provided within the 2-page extract and there is 
little that can be gleaned from this evidence.  

99. There are inconsistencies in respect of some of the claims particularly 
regarding the route used in Hanchurch Woods, it would appear that 6 of 

the users have referred to locked gates and the requirement of permits to 
use the way on horseback in respect of access via Hanchurch Woods and 
these are potentially fatal to the claim. 

100. The users J – M submitted their forms in 2020 - none of which have 
referred to any mention of gates or access into Hanchurch Woods.  

101. These users however do mention the erection of gates in 2020 along the 
section of the path marked “B to C” which were removed within 2 weeks.  

102. Users J – M have claimed to have used the section of the route “A to B” 
during the time which the landowner declaration form has been in place, 

since 1992 and therefore this use cannot be considered in connection 
with that section of the route. There is a clear intention by the landowner 
not to dedicate the route by lodging the s36 declaration with the local 

authority.   

103. The erection of the kissing gates along the route mentioned by users J - 

M, whilst this is considered an obstruction along the route, the application 
was submitted in 1996 and therefore use of the route had already been 

brought to question by the time of the gate’s installation.  Following 
investigation at the time, the Council removed the gates following 

complaints.  

p 9

Page 16



 

 Page 10 

 

 

104. In relation to the section of the route marked “A to B” the statutory test 

would not be applicable as the land is subject to Crown Immunity. 

105. Therefore the test to be applied in respect of the section of the route 

marked “A to B” is the common law test; this is based on a somewhat 
similar criteria to the statutory test although the use does not necessarily 

have to be for 20-years or more.  

106. The test needs to demonstrate that that the landowner firstly intended to 

dedicate the route and secondly that he had the capacity to do so.  

107. It is a test that applies to the Crown, the Forestry Commission, the 
Duchies of Lancaster and Cornwall and government departments - unless 

expressly excluded by statute. 

108. Under the common law test it may be necessary to show higher levels of 

use in urban areas during shorter periods of time. This enhances the 
overall integrity of the claim.  

109. Given that there were a low number of users in this case it is necessary 
to have a more substantial timeframe.  

110. The conduct of the landowner by submitting a landowner declaration is 
held to be evidence that the route had not been dedicated for use on 
horseback – this in itself is fatal to the claim – as in the case of Nicholson 

v Secretary of State for Environment (1996).  

111. The essential point in the common law test is that there must be a 

capacity to dedicate, and only the owner of the freehold title can, by his 
actions, dedicate a right of way. 

112. All of the users A to I have identified that there were gates along the 
route into Hanchurch Woods and many of whom contend that there was 

also a permit required for use of the route through the wood on 
horseback.   

113. Of the remaining users since 1992 it can only be reiterated that a 

landowner declaration was in place over the land, and that this is fatal to 
the claim.  

114. In respect of the length of the route marked “A to B”, it is Officers opinion 
that there is insufficient compelling user evidence to satisfy the common 

law test and thus this test would also fail in respect of this section of the 
route. 

115. Turning to the section of the route marked “B to C” on the map attached 
at Appendix B, the evidence here can be considered under statute and 
under the common law test.  There are no landowner declarations in place 

for this section of the route and this section of land is not owned by the 
Crown or Forestry Commission. 

116. Therefore, the relevant 20-year period here would begin retrospectively 
from the date of challenge on the route.   

117. We are aware that there were kissing gates erected along the route in 
2020, however this application was made prior to the said obstruction 

and therefore the date of the application will be considered as the date 

p 10

Page 17



 

 Page 11 

 

 

of challenge and therefore the relevant 20-year period will be 1976 – 

1996. 

118. There is not one user identified who claims to have used this the path for 

the full duration of the relevant 20-year period from 1976 – 1996. 

119. However, when we calculate evidence of use together, that of user G and 

user J, this would constitute 1 user for the duration of the 20-year period. 

120. Also, user H and user N calculated together would constitute another user 

for the duration of the 20-year period. 

121. So, when considered collectively, it can be said that there are 2 users 
who have used the route for the full relevant 20 year period. 

122. In addition, there are another 4 users who have returned user evidence 
forms who claim to have continued to use the route in question after the 

date of application, this use is all for 20 years or more, however, it does 
not fall within the relevant 20-year period. 

123. There are a further 4 users who have claimed to use the route during the 
relevant 20 year period but not for its entirety.  

124. Another 3 users claim to have used the route, however this is prior to the 
relevant 20 year period. 

125. Whilst, when calculated together, there are 2 users who have used the 

route for the duration of the relevant 20 year period, this is not 
considered enough evidence to satisfy the test under statute – for clarity 

being the path marked “B to C” on the attached map at Appendix B.  

126. In the case of R. v. SSETR (ex p. Dorset) [1999] it was accepted that, 

although the evidence within five UEFs was truthful, it was insufficient to 
satisfy the statutory test. The finding did not consider whether use by 

five witnesses would satisfy the test. 

127. Therefore the section of the route marked “B to C” on the plan should be 
considered under the common law test. 

128. Whilst the level of user evidence forms submitted is fairly low, we do have 
14 users who have used the route, for long periods of time prior to the 

route being brought into question - the amount of usage described by 
each user is relatively frequent. 

129. It would appear from the evidence that the users were accessing the 
section of the route marked “B to C” on the attached plan, as of right.  

130. The land over which the section of the path marked “B to C” runs is not 
recorded at the Land Registry.  

131. There is a rebuttable presumption in law that operates where for example 

there is a track that is unregistered and has no apparent owner, despite 
the land either side having registered owners.  

132. This principle is the ad medium filum rule and in respect of highways, 
which are often not the property of the Highway Authority, it is used to 

determine the ownership of the subsoil.  

p 11

Page 18



 

 Page 12 

 

 

133. In the absence of any other evidence, the rule holds that the interest is 

vested in the adjoining landowners despite it being unregistered land. 

134. In the terms of the right of way, the ad medium filum rule will apply, in 

that the subsoil to the midline of the right of way will belong to each of 
the adjoining landowners. 

135. It is apparent from Landowner A that they believe that the path adjoining 
their land is a bridleway and has been so for 23 years. 

136. In respect of Landowner B, as their evidence form would suggest, their 
ownership of the adjoining land commenced in 2014, after the date of 
the S53 application; they accept that the route is a footpath only. 

137. For clarity, all users of the alleged route claim to have used it on a regular 
basis - and landowners of the adjoining land claim to have seen members 

of the public accessing the route on a daily basis either on foot, horse or 
cycle.   

138. Therefore, it is evident that the frequency of use was sufficient enough to 
bring it home to a landowner that they were present and that a right on 

horseback was being asserted across their land. 

139. Despite the implied intention to prevent horses accessing the route in 
2020 by the erection of kissing gates, these were subsequently removed 

following complaints and the matter was addressed by the Council at that 
time. 

140. In connection with the rejection and removal of the kissing gates along 
the path, the Council found that the gates were erected with the intent 

for them to aid repair works to the surface of the route and the installation 
of a drainage system. This was to alleviate the muddy deteriorating 

condition of the route.  

141. The Council found that whilst this was the intention, the action was 
somewhat precipitous and on review ought not to have been carried out. 

Consequently, the Council accepted that the structures should be 
removed, and this was subsequently achieved shortly after. 

 

Historical Evidence 

142. The 1910 Finance Act shows the application route - “B to C” into 
Hanchurch Woods as “uncoloured” and separate from the adjoining 

hereditaments. 

143. Its exclusion from the Incremental Duty Tax is indicative of its likely 
public status.  

144. Public footpaths were included in land value assessments under the 1910 
Act and also noted in the accompanying Field Books. There was a 

deduction in Duty Value for the negative burden on land value they 
created.  

145. If a route in dispute is external to any numbered hereditament, then 
there is a good possibility that it was considered public. 

p 12

Page 19



 

 Page 13 

 

 

146. The Finance Act Plan submitted does not evidence the full length of Public 

Footpath 18 Swynnerton.   

147. It can be seen from the map that whilst the top section of the route to 

Hanchurch Woods is uncoloured, this does not remain the same for the 
continuation of the route into Hanchurch Woods, and therefore this 

evidence does not support the contention that the entirety of the route 
could have a higher status due to it being separate from adjoining land. 

148. No field book has been provided to accompany the map and therefore no 
inference can be made in relation to the hereditaments of the route in 
Hanchurch Woods, marked “A to B” on the plan, however this section 

appears to be included within a hereditament.  

149. It should be noted however that there may be other reasons to explain 

the exclusion of the path from the Finance Act Map, in respect of the 
section “B to C” of the plan. In some cases a private road set out in an 

inclosure award for the use of a number of people but without its 
ownership being assigned to any individual may also be excluded from 

hereditaments. 

 

Tinted OS Map 1896 

150. The Applicant, through their representative submitted an 1896 Ordnance 
Survey tinted map for consideration in respect of the application. 

151. Again, the map is limited to the northern section of the route and this is  
depicted tinted in sienna leading up to Hanchurch Woods.  The colouring 

could be suggestive of rights higher than that of a footpath as this 
appears to be shown in a similar way connecting routes in the local area, 

however this is not conclusive.  

152. This could suggest that the alleged route is of a higher status than a 
footpath, as it is shown by two solid lines and entirely separate from the 

adjoining landholdings, and in a similar way to other highways, however 
this is not conclusive. 

153. Ordnance Survey Maps do provide evidence of the physical existence of 
features on the ground extant at the time of the survey, however they 

are usually unable to provide any evidence of status.   

154. From the early 1880’s the maps included a disclaimer to the effect that 

the depiction of any path, track or way was not evidence of the existence 
of any public rights of way. 

 

Legal Tests 

155. With regard to the status of the route, the burden is on the Applicant to 

show, that on the balance of probabilities, that it is more likely than not, 
that the Definitive Map and Statement is incorrect. The existing 

classification of the route, as public footpath, must remain unless and until 
the Panel is of the view that the Definitive Map and Statement are wrong.   

p 13

Page 20



 

 Page 14 

 

 

156. If the evidence is evenly balanced, then the existing classification of the 

route as a public footpath on the Definitive Map and Statement prevails. 

 

Summary  

157. The application is made under under Section 53(2) of the 1981 Act, 

relying on the occurrence of the event specified in 53(3)(c)(i) of the Act.   

158. The Panel need to be satisfied that, on the balance of probabilities, the 

evidence shows that a highway shown in the map and statement as a 
highway of a particular description ought to be there shown as a highway 
of a different description. 

159. The relevant statutory provision, in relation to the dedication of a public 
right of way is found in Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 (‘the 1980 

Act’).   

160. This requires consideration of whether there has been use of a way by 

the public, as of right and without interruption, for a period of twenty 
years prior to its status being brought into question and, if so, whether 

there is evidence that any landowner demonstrated a lack of intention 
during this period to dedicate a public right of way.   

161. If it is decided that the statutory test fails or is inapplicable, consideration 

should be given to the issue of common law dedication; that is, whether 
the available evidence shows that the owner of the land over which a way 

passes has dedicated it to the public.   

162. An implication of dedication may be shown at common law if there is 

evidence from which it may be inferred that a landowner has dedicated 
a right of way and that the public have accepted the dedication.  Evidence 

of the use of a way by the public as of right may support an inference of 
dedication and may also be evidence of the acceptance of a dedication 
by the public.  

163. Before a presumption of dedication can be raised under statute, Section 
31 of the 1980 Act requires that a way must be shown to have been 

actually used by the public, as of right and without interruption, and for 
this use to have continued for a full period of twenty years.   

164. In this case, we have separated the route to be considered into two 
sections.  In terms of the section marked “A to B” on the map attached 

at Appendix B, the view taken is that the status of the route was brought 
into question in 1992, when the landowner declaration was submitted to 
the Council.  

165. As explained, in this case the statutory test fails or is inapplicable in 
respect of the section marked “A to B” due to Sovereign Immunity. As 

such the application in respect of section “A to B” must succeed or fail 
under common law. 

166. As a landowner declaration has been in place since 1992, it would appear 
from the evidence submitted by the Forestry Commission and quantified 

by users that access for horse riders was via a permit only or restricted 

p 14

Page 21



 

 Page 15 

 

 

via locked gates and therefore this does not satisfy the test under 

common law. 

167. As such, it is Officers opinion that the evidence is insufficient to give rise 

to dedication beyond use as a public footpath and the application will fail 
under the common law test in respect of this section of the route marked 

“A to B”. 

168. For clarity, the landowner has shown a clear intention not to dedicate the 

route on horseback.  

169. The historical evidence - Parish Survey Cards and information in support 
of these, the Finance Act Map 1910 and the 1896 OS Map, in respect of 

the route “A to B”, (the section of the route through the woods at 
Hanchurch Hills) would all appear to be consistent with that of a public 

footpath. 

170. The Forestry Commission, the Parish Council and the County Surveyor 

have all contented that the route is a public right of way with the status 
of a public footpath.   

171. It should be noted that no objections were received regarding the 
designated status at the time of the initial definitive map and statement. 

172. In terms of the section of the path that is not subject to the landowner 

declaration, marked “B to C” on the attached map at Appendix B, the 
view taken was that the status of the route was brought into question in 

1996, when the application to upgrade Public Footpath 18 was submitted 
to the Council. 

173. For this section it needs to be demonstrated that there was public use 
between 1976 to 1996 to satisfy the first part of the statutory test.  

174. As outlined all 14 users do show a degree of consistency in their evidence, 
however there are also some apparent inconsistencies. 

175. In terms of section “B to C” of the map the as of right status can be 

determined as use has clearly been nec vi, nec clam, nec precario – 
without force, secrecy, or permission. 

176. From the frequency of use claimed, combined with the preceding points 
above it can be demonstrated that adjoining landowners to the section of 

the route marked “B to C” on the attached plan, did show an intention to 
dedicate the route as a bridleway and that the public had accepted this.  

177. When added together there are 2 users who satisfy the test for use 
throughout the relevant 20 year period, although, this use alone is not 
strong enough to satisfy the statutory test, consideration should be given 

to the issue of common law dedication; that is, whether the available 
evidence shows that the owner of the land over which a way passes has 

dedicated it to the public.  

178. An implication of dedication may be shown at common law if there is 

evidence from which it may be inferred that a landowner has dedicated 
a right of way and that the public has accepted that dedication.  

p 15

Page 22



 

 Page 16 

 

 

179. As with the statutory test the use must have been as of right and without 

challenge and enjoyed by the public at large – all of which appear to have 
been satisfied in terms of the northern most section of the route marked 

“B to C”. 

180. There are discrepancies in the evidence of use submitted, and no use 

recorded between 1963 – 1969, a duration of 6 years.   

181. That said, the use after that time from 1969 – 2020 has seen no 

interruption - quantified by no challenge in respect of the section of the 
route marked “B to C” until the erection of the kissing gates in 2020. 

182. In respect of the historical evidence submitted by the Applicant through 

their representative, the 1910 Finance Act Map is suggestive of higher 
rights over the northern section of the route, being the section marked 

“B to C” on the attached map however this is not conclusive. 

183. The Finance Act Map does not support the contention that the section of 

the route marked “A to B” is of the same status.  The entirety of the route 
cannot be seen from this evidence, however what can be seen is a 

coloured route, within a plot of land; this is suggestive that higher rights 
do not exist in relation to the southern section of the footpath marked “A 
to B”. 

184. The 1896 Ordnance Survey map would appear to show the route-
coloured sienna and linked with other local routes in the area, in 

particular with Public Bridleway 9 Whitmore.  Again, this is suggestive 
that the section marked “B to C” on the attached map was considered to 

have higher rights over it than a footpath. 

185. The correspondence and evidence considered does refute the claim as to 

the status of the route in respect of the land marked “A to B”.  

186. The Applicant, through their representative, also provided information in 
their email dated the 16 June 2023 in respect of the complaints raised 

regarding the kissing gates and the obstruction along the route in 2020. 

187. This associated complaint was investigated by the Council at the time and 

resolved in May 2020.  The response to the complainant can be found at 
Appendix T. 

188. The legal aspects in connection with the section 53 application of the 
complaint have been fully investigated and commented upon within the 

report.  

189. In terms of the comments made in respect of the sale particulars referred 
to and sent to Officers for consideration as part of the investigation of the 

section 53 application, this was considered as part of the complaints 
procedure and the Council responded as follows: “I appreciate the sale 

particulars and their mention of a bridleway but they are produced for a 
particular purpose, to sell a property. They are not legally binding 

documents.” 

190. All of the evidence when considered together, would indicate that the 

section of the route marked “B to C” on the attached map would succeed 

p 16

Page 23



 

 Page 17 

 

 

under the common law test, that is a dedication by the landowner and 

acceptance of this dedication by the public.  

 

Conclusion 

191. It is the opinion of Officers that based upon the balance of probabilities 

and in light of the evidence, as set out above, that a public right of way, 
with the status of a Public Bridleway, which is not shown on the map and 

statement does not subsist along the section of the route marked “A to 
B” on the attached map. 

192. It is the opinion of Officers that the County Council should not make a 

Modification Order to upgrade the route marked “A to B” on the attached 
plan to Public Bridleway status on the Definitive Map and Statement of 

Public Rights of Way. 

193. It is the opinion of Officers that, based upon the balance of probabilities 

and in light of the evidence, as set out above, that a public right of way, 
with the status of a Public Bridleway, which is not shown on the map and 

statement subsists along the section of the route marked “B to C” on the 
attached map. 

194. It is the opinion of Officers that the County Council should make a 

Modification Order to upgrade the route marked “B to C” on the attached 
plan to Public Bridleway status on the Definitive Map and Statement of 

Public Rights of Way. 

 

Recommended Option 

195. To reject the application in respect of the section of the route marked “A 

to B” on the attached map at Appendix B based upon the reasons 
contained in the report and outlined above and to decide not to make an 
Order to upgrade the section of the route to the Definitive Map and 

Statement of Public Rights of Way. 

196. To accept the application in respect of the section of the route marked “B 

to C” on the attached map at Appendix B based upon the reasons 
contained in the report and outlined above and to decide to make an Order 

to upgrade the section marked “B to C” of the route of Public Footpath 18 
Swynnerton to a Public Bridleway on the Definitive Map and Statement of 

Public Rights of Way. 

197. It is further recommended that this should be to the minimum width of 2 
metres throughout its length. 

 

Other Options Available 

198. The Panel has the authority to reach a different decision and therefore: 

a)  can accept to upgrade the entirety of the route to make an Order to 

upgrade the alleged route to the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way or; 

p 17

Page 24



 

 Page 18 

 

 

b) can reject to upgrade the entirety of the route to and not make any 

Order to upgrade the alleged route to the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way or; 

c) can accept to upgrade the section “A to B” of the route to make an 
Order to upgrade the alleged route to the Definitive Map and 

Statement of Public Rights of Way or; 
d) can reject to upgrade the section “B to C” of the route to not make an 

Order to upgrade the alleged route to the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way. 

 

Legal Implications  

199. The legal implications are contained within the report. 

 

Resource and Financial Implications  

200. The costs of determining applications are met from existing provisions.  

201. There are, however, additional resource and financial implications if 

decisions of the Registration Authority are challenged by way of appeal 
to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs or a 
further appeal to the High Court for Judicial Review.  

 

Risk Implications  

202. In the event of the Council making an Order any person may object to that 
order and if such objections are not withdrawn the matter is referred to 

the Secretary of State for Environment under Schedule 15 of the 1981 
Act. The Secretary of State would appoint an Inspector to consider the 

matter afresh, including any representations or previously unconsidered 
evidence.  

203. The Secretary of State may uphold the Council’s decision and confirm the 

Order; however there is always a risk that an Inspector may decide that 
the County Council should not have made the Order and decide not to 

confirm it.  If the Secretary of State upholds the Council’s decision and 
confirms the Order it may still be challenged by way of Judicial Review in 

the High Court.  

204. Should the Council decide not to make an Order the Applicant may appeal 

that decision under Schedule 14 of the 1981 Act to the Secretary of State 
who will follow a similar process to that outlined above. After consideration 
by an Inspector the County Council could be directed to make an Order.   

205. If the Panel makes its decision based upon the facts, the applicable law 
and applies the relevant legal tests the risk of a challenge to any decision 

being successful, or being made, are lessened. There are no additional risk 
implications.  

 

Equal Opportunity Implications  

p 18

Page 25



 

 Page 19 

 

 

206. There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. 

 

______________________________________________________________ 

J Tradewell  

Director for Corporate Services 

Report Author: Laura James 

Background File: LF602G 

p 19

Page 26



 

 Page 20 

 

 

INDEX TO APPENDICES 

Appendix A Copy of application Form 1 

Appendix B Plan of claimed route  

Appendix C User Evidence Statements (14) 

Appendix D User Evidence Matrix 

Appendix E Representative Correspondence 

Appendix F 1910 Finance Act 

Appendix G 1986 Tinted OS Map 

Appendix H Landowner Declaration 

Appendix I Parish Survey Card & Correspondence FP 18 Swynnerton 

Appendix J Parish Survey card BW 9 Whitmore 

Appendix K Forestry Commission Letter 

Appendix L Landowner Evidence form John German 

Appendix M Email from Forestry Commission 

Appendix N Landowner A Evidence Form 

Appendix O Landowner B Evidence Form 

Appendix P Landowner C Evidence Form 

Appendix Q Parish Council Response 

Appendix R Stafford Borough Council Response 

Appendix S Ramblers Association Response  

Appendix T SCC Complaints Response  

 

p 20

Page 27





Appendix A

Page 29



p 1

Page 30



p 2

Page 31





Appendix B

Page 33



33
80
00

33
80
00

33
85
00

33
85
00

33
90
00

33
90
00

33
95
00

33
95
00

34
00
00

34
00
00

34
05
00

34
05
00

34
10
00

34
10
00

34
15
00

34
15
00

34
20
00

34
20
00

34
25
00

34
25
00

34
30
00

34
30
00

381500

381500

382000

382000

382500

382500

383000

383000

383500

383500

384000

384000

384500

384500

385000

385000

385500

385500

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Section 53A(2)(b)

Proposed regrading to bridleway
of public footpath no.18 Swynnerton Parish,

Staffordshire.

Map created at the scale of 1:25000
(facsimiles may vary)

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2023
Ordnance Survey 100019422. You are not
permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute or
sell any of this data to third parties in any form.
Use of this data is subject to the terms and conditions
shown at www.staffordshire.gov.uk/maps.
Produced by Staffordshire County Council, 01/11/2023. 

Route of footpaths to be regraded as
bridleways ( B - C )

Status of Map -
Consultation

Map

File reference -
LF602G

Footpaths unaffected by proposal

Bridleway unaffected by proposal

B

C

A

p 1

Page 34



Appendix C

Page 35



User A

p 1

Page 36



p 2

Page 37



p 3

Page 38



p 4

Page 39



p 5

Page 40



User B

p 6

Page 41



p 7

Page 42



p 8

Page 43



p 9

Page 44



p 10

Page 45



p 11

Page 46



User C

p 12

Page 47



p 13

Page 48



p 14

Page 49



p 15

Page 50



p 16

Page 51



p 17

Page 52



User D

p 18

Page 53



p 19

Page 54



p 20

Page 55



User E

p 21

Page 56



p 22

Page 57



p 23

Page 58



p 24

Page 59



User F

p 25

Page 60



p 26

Page 61



p 27

Page 62



p 28

Page 63



User G

p 29

Page 64



p 30

Page 65



p 31

Page 66



p 32

Page 67



p 33

Page 68



p 34

Page 69



p 35

Page 70



User I

p 36

Page 71



p 37

Page 72



p 38

Page 73



p 39

Page 74



User J

p 40

Page 75



p 41

Page 76



p 42

Page 77



p 43

Page 78



p 44

Page 79



p 45

Page 80



p 46

Page 81



p 47

Page 82



p 48

Page 83



p 49

Page 84



p 50

Page 85



p 51

Page 86



User K

p 52

Page 87



p 53

Page 88



p 54

Page 89



p 55

Page 90



p 56

Page 91



p 57

Page 92



p 58

Page 93



p 59

Page 94



p 60

Page 95



p 61

Page 96



User  L

p 62

Page 97



p 63

Page 98



p 64

Page 99



p 65

Page 100



p 66

Page 101



p 67

Page 102



p 68

Page 103



p 69

Page 104



p 70

Page 105



p 71

Page 106



User M

p 72

Page 107



p 73

Page 108



p 74

Page 109



p 75

Page 110



p 76

Page 111



p 77

Page 112



p 78

Page 113



p 79

Page 114



p 80

Page 115



p 81

Page 116



User N

p 82

Page 117



p 83

Page 118



p 84

Page 119



p 85

Page 120



p 86

Page 121



p 87

Page 122



p 88

Page 123



p 89

Page 124



p 90

Page 125



p 91

Page 126



p 92

Page 127





Appendix D

Page 129



User ID Start Date End Date Duration Activity Width Frequency Purpose Additional comments 
Relevant 20 Year Period A to B 1972 1992 20
Relevant 20 Year Period B to C 1976 1996 20

User A 1977 1992 15 Horseback 15-20 foot Daily Pleasure 

Acton to Hanchurch/ Hobgoblin Gate Dukes 
lodge bridal gates always open- replaced by 
vehicle locked gate. Permit holder system in 
place.

User B 1920 1960 40 Horseback 15-18 foot Weekly Pleasure Horses kept locally at Harley Thorne Farm.
User C 1945 1960 15 horseback 15-18 feet Weekly Pleasure

User D 1980 1992 12 Foot/Horseback 15-20 feet weekly pleasure
Gates Dukes Lodge and Hoblin Gate - 
Obstruction 1992 Hobgoblin gate 

User E 1982 1994 12 Horseback/Foot 1 foot Weekly Pleasure Calculated from age of 16 "As of Right"
User F 1958 1963 5 Hoseback 15 Weekly/Sum Pleasure Wooden Gate usually open

User G 1960 1962 2 Horseback 20 feet Weekly Pleasure 

Calculated from age of 16 "as of right" 
Discontinued Use between 1962-1972 / Used 
1953-1962 Hobgoblin Gate / Dukes Gate/ Paid 
for a pass/Wire Fence "No riding in the Wood"  

User G 1972 1992 20 Horseback Weekly Pleasure Same user as above separate use calculated 

User H 1969 1992 23 Horseback Monthly Pleasure
Gates either end of path/padlocked/Horseshoe 
sinage

User I 1978 1994 16 Horseback
as wide as a 
road Weekends pleasure

gate at each end marked / Forestry 
commission closed the woods - permit holders 
only - keys required 

User J 1980 2020 40 horseback 3 meters weekly Pleasure
Blocked by kissing gates which were removed 
(Apr-Jun 20) 

User K 1994 2020 26 Riding School 4 meters Weekly Pleasure
Blocked by kissing gates which were removed 
(Apr-Jun 20) 

User L 1995 2020 25 Riding School 3 meters Weekly Pleasure
Blocked by kissing gates which were removed 
(Apr-Jun 20) 

User M 1997 2020 23 Riding School 3 meters Weekly Pleasure
Blocked by kissing gates which were removed 
(Apr-Jun 20) 

User N 1978 2019 41 horseback Varies weekly pleasure
Blocked by kissing gates which were removed 
(Apr-Jun 20) 

p 1

P
age 130



Relevant 20 years A to B

Relevant 20 Year Period B to C

15

40

15

12

12

5

2

20

23

16

40

26

25

23

41
19
20

19
21

19
22

19
23

19
24

19
25

19
26

19
27

19
28

19
29

19
30

19
31

19
32

19
33

19
34

19
35

19
36

19
37

19
38

19
39

19
40

19
41

19
42

19
43

19
44

19
45

19
46

19
47

19
48

19
49

19
50

19
51

19
52

19
53

19
54

19
55

19
56

19
57

19
58

19
59

19
60

19
61

19
62

19
63

19
64

19
65

19
66

19
67

19
68

19
69

19
70

19
71

19
72

19
73

19
74

19
75

19
76

19
77

19
78

19
79

19
80

19
81

19
82

19
83

19
84

19
85

19
86

19
87

19
88

19
89

19
90

19
91

19
92

19
93

19
94

19
95

19
96

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

Relevant 20
Year Period…

Relevant 20
Year Period…

User A

User B

User C

User D

User E

User F

User G

User G

User H

User I

User J

User K

User L

User M

User N

p 2

P
age 131





Appendix E

Page 133



1

James, Laura (Corporate)

From:
Sent: 16 June 2023 13:21
To: James, Laura (Corporate)
Cc:
Subject: FW: Additional Information On Swynnerton Footpath 18 
Attachments: Welldale Sale Particulars.PNG; Welldale Sale Details - Acknowledged Bridle Path.PNG; Email To 

SCC From Angela Wilson.PNG; Title Plan 6 Oakwood Lane - Known As  Welldale.pdf

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Staffordshire County Council. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

 
 
 
 
Dear Ms James 
 
Definitive Map Modification Application LF602G 
 
I understand you have been assigned to investigate definitive map modification application LF602G and 
are making enquiries about it with nearby landowners. I am the representative of the applicant, North 
Staffordshire Bridleways Association, which the Chair of the Association advised the Council of in 2020. 
 
The files you have may not contain relevant and important associated information which resulted from 
unlawful obstruction of the D Class unclassified road at its junction with the application route. The following 
May 2020 email is part of a much wider exchange on the subject with the Council three years ago, with me, 
authorised by  North Staffordshire Bridleways Association to act for them in this matter.  
 
There is a lot of relevant material in these 2020 exchanges, including communications with other local 
residents that you will need to familiarise yourself with and include in any report you compile for Members 
to determine this application. You will also appreciate that none of the land comprising the application route 
is Land Registered up to  Hanchurch Woods -  but all the land surrounding it is. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 

 
For North Staffordshire Bridleways Association 
Tel: (07768) 2935043 
  
 

From:    
Sent: 19 May 2020 12:00 
To: '  'Dalton, Paula (Corporate)' 
<paula.dalton@staffordshire.gov.uk> 
Subject: Additional Information On Swynnerton Footpath 18 
 
 
 
 
Dear Councillor Fisher 
 
You and Paula Dalton need to be aware of the following regarding the Councils investigations into 
my complaints regarding the obstruction of Swynnerton Footpath 18 with horses. In the last 48 

p 1p 1

Page 134



2

hours I have received  copies of a substantial number of emails exchanged between various 
Councillors (Parish, Borough and County), Paul Rochfort, your Principal Rights of Way Officer and 

 (the adjoining landowners that abuts part of the path). These are very 
revealing and it is clear that there are many irregularities and misunderstandings you need to be 
aware of: 
 
1) Firstly, it is clear that your officer, Mr Paul Rochfort, is under the impression that  

 own the land over which Swynnerton Footpath 18 passes. This is a material 
misunderstanding as the path has no registered owner and the land purchased by  

 around two years ago and included in the Registered Title of 6 Oakwood Lane, known as 
Welldale, is bounded by the path in places. However, the path itself was not included within the 
conveyance and is excluded from the title. A copy of the Land Registry Title Plan is attached 
confirming this. By contrast, your Mr Rochfort appears to have misunderstood this vital piece of 
information and, in an email to states: 
 
“We discussed the possibility of restricting access for horse riders by installing a gate on 
the path but if you are happy for riders to continue to use the route then we don’t wish to 
restrict such access”.  
 
This statement raises two issues: 

 It is highly irregular for Staffordshire County Council to ask anyone who is not the 
landowner of the subsoil of a public path whether they are “happy for riders to continue to 
use the route” or not. Only a landowner of the actual route over which a public path 
traverses is able to provide permissive use or dedication of use. 

 The words “continue to use” are significant because they confirm that there has been use 
which could well have resulted in dedication as a bridleway by long use. 
 

2) When  purchased Welldale the vendor disclosed that the path, through part 
of the the property for sale, was not included in the land to be conveyed and is a public bridle 
path. A copy of the sale particulars is attached explaining the “scrub land” adjoining what has 
been recorded as Swynnerton Footpath 18  as: “having bridle path access only”. Note: The 
land concerned does not abut or connect with Whitmore Bridleway 9 so the access referred to is 
what has been recorded as Swynnerton Footpath 18 (see Title Plan attached). 
 
So, it would have been extremely clear to  that they were buying a property that 
included a parcel of “scrub land”, abutting a public path that was not included within the sale, 
which the vendor acknowledged  to be a public bridleway. It is clearly “economical with the facts” 
for  not to have revealed this important and material piece of information to 
Staffordshire County Council officers. 
 
3) In her email of 12th March 2019, a copy of which is attached, explained to 
Staffordshire County Council that the public path is, quote: 
 
“Regularly used by cyclists, walkers with dogs and horse riders” 
 
Again, this clear admission of use with hoses and cycles would indicate to a Principal Rights of 
Way Officer that further research would be required, to verify and confirm whether any 
applications had been made to modify the recorded status of the path. In this case we know that a 
modification application was submitted 24 years previously for which the Secretary of State for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs directed your Council to determine by no later tan October 
30th last year (many months before its obstruction with horses by installing kissing gates was 
implemented).  
 

p 2p 2

Page 135



3

4) The input of  various Councillors who have been in communication regarding this matter, of 
which I have now acquired copies, confirm that they clearly do not understand public rights of way 
law and appear to have been providing fundamentally flawed guidance on this matter. 
 
I am sending you this additional very recently obtained information, in addition to the other 
information I have provided previously regarding the unlawful obstruction of Oakwood Lane by the 
installation of a kissing gate on it, because it is important and highly relevant. It also complements 
my previous communications regarding the highly irregular obstruction of Swynnerton Footpath 
18, to the north of Hobgoblin Gate, by way of a second kissing gate installed. Both of these 
obstructions now require removal by Staffordshire County Council and I trust this extra input is 
helpful and informing regarding the reckless way in which the installation of the obstructions have 
been decided and implemented. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 

 
    

 
 
     
 

p 3p 3

Page 136



p 4p 4

P
age 137



p 5p 5

P
age 138



p 6p 6

P
age 139



p 7p 7

P
age 140



Appendix F

Page 141



p 1

P
age 142



Appendix G

Page 143



p 1

P
age 144



Appendix H

Page 145



p 1p 1

Page 146



p 2p 2

Page 147



p 3p 3

Page 148



p 4p 4

P
age 149



p 5p 5

P
age 150



Appendix I

Page 151



Swynnerton Parish footpath 18 – extracts from parish survey 

correspondence, parish cards and maps 

 

 

 

p 1

Page 152



 

p 2

Page 153



 

p 3

Page 154



 

 

p 4

Page 155



 

p 5

Page 156



 

p 6

Page 157



 

 

p 7

Page 158



 

p 8

Page 159





Appendix J

Page 161



2

p 1

P
age 162



5

 
Here is an extract from a query sheet asking if the route should be a RP as it is stated it’s in use by cars. 

p 2

P
age 163



6

 
This fits with the parish survey map showing the route as a F.P. but with an R.P. added later. 
 

p 3

P
age 164



7

p 4

P
age 165





Appendix K

Page 167



p 1p 1

Page 168



Appendix L

Page 169



p 1p 1

Page 170



p 2p 2

Page 171



p 3p 3

Page 172



p 4p 4

Page 173



p 5p 5

Page 174



Appendix M

Page 175



From:
To: James, Laura (Corporate)
Subject: FW: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 S53 Application to upgrade public footpath no. 18 Swynnerton Parish

to a public bridleway
Date: 25 July 2023 14:40:41
Attachments: image001.png

image002.jpg
Forestry Commission Letter May 1996.pdf
Map of claimed route LF602G.pdf
LF602G Form 1_Redacted.pdf

Importance: High

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Staffordshire County Council. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Laura
 
Thank you for your email and apologies for the delay in replying.
 
I can confirm that neither I nor my colleagues are aware of a permit system for horse riders at
Swynnerton Old Park wood.
 
Kind regards
 
Sarah
 
Sarah McKay MRICS
Area Land Agent
Forestry England
Central England Forest District
Sherwood Office
Kings Clipstone
Mansfield
Notts
NG21 9JL
 07342 055980 (mobile)
 
 

From: James, Laura (Corporate) <laura.james1@staffordshire.gov.uk> 
Sent: Monday, July 24, 2023 11:47 AM
To: NW&WM <nwwm@forestrycommission.gov.uk>
Subject: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 S53 Application to upgrade public footpath no. 18
Swynnerton Parish to a public bridleway
Importance: High
 
This Message originated outside your organisation.

Dear Sirs,
 
I refer to the above matter and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Section 53 application made on 10 April 1996.  We received previous
correspondence with the Forestry Commission upon initial consultation
back in 1996, who had confirmed that the Forestry Commission had
legal title to the ground through a 999-year lease from 26 January 1948
granted by Lord Stafford. 

p 1p 1

Page 176



 
We have also emailed enquiries@forestryengland.uk;
central.district@forestryengland.uk; however have not received a
response.
 
I have attached a copy of the Section 53 Application under the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981, which is based on user evidence, a copy of
the map and route in question and also a copy of the letter received
from the forestry commission dated 2 May 1996. (Your reference (letter
dated 1996) L 14/10/1 001)
 
I appreciate that some time has passed since the date of the
application, however, the team are dealing with a large number of
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 applications which are dealt with in
chronological order in order of receipt, or direction from The Secretary
of State and this is now being processed for determination.
 
I shall be grateful if you could provide us with details of the permit
system for horse riders and the scheme in place which is mentioned in
the letter together with information on how long this has been in
operation.
 
I look forward to hearing from you, please contact me via email or call
me discuss in more detail if you require further information regarding
the land in question.
 
 
Kind Regards
Laura

Laura James | Legal Officer (Rights of Way)
Legal Services
Office Location: 4th Floor, 1 Staffordshire
Place, Tipping Street, Stafford, ST16 2LP
Postal Address: 2 Staffordshire Place,
Tipping Street, Stafford, ST16 2DH
Tel: (01785) 278778
DX: 712320 Stafford 5
Email: laura.james1@staffordshire.gov.uk
Service:
legal.services@staffordshire.gov.uk
www.staffordshire.gov.uk

 
 

Disclaimer

This e-mail (including any attachments) is only for the person or organisation it is addressed to. If
you are not the intended recipient you must let me know immediately and then delete this e-
mail. If you use this e-mail without permission, or if you allow anyone else to see, copy or
distribute the e-mail, or if you do, or don't do something because you have read this e-mail, you
may be breaking the law. 

p 2p 2

Page 177



Liability cannot be accepted for any loss or damage arising from this e-mail (or any attachments)
or from incompatible scripts or any virus transmitted. 

E-mails and attachments sent to or received from staff and elected Members may be monitored
and read and the right is reserved to reject or return or delete any which are considered to be
inappropriate or unsuitable.

Do you really need to print this email? It will use paper, add to your waste disposal costs and
harm the environment.

Disclaimer

The information contained in this communication from the sender is confidential. It is intended solely for
use by the recipient and others authorised to receive it. If you are not the recipient, you are hereby
notified that any disclosure, copying, distribution or taking action in relation of the contents of this
information is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful.

This email has been scanned for viruses and malware.

p 3p 3

Page 178



Appendix N

Page 179



p 1p 1

Page 180



p 2p 2

Page 181



p 3p 3

Page 182



p 4p 4

Page 183



p 5p 5

Page 184



p 6p 6

Page 185



p 7p 7

Page 186



p 8p 8

Page 187



p 9p 9

Page 188



p 10p 10

Page 189





Appendix O

Page 191



1

James, Laura (Corporate)

From:
Sent: 26 August 2020 20:11
To: Adkins, David (Corporate)
Subject: Re: Public Footpath No 18 Swynnerton

Thank you for updating me on the status of this matter David it is very much appreciated to have this summary promptly. 
 
If this matter is actually being taken forward to a consultation period that is 28 days I would be extremely concerned that in this 
timeframe it would be very difficult to complete a full survey of the potential impact of widening the path to 3 metres. 
 
I know from personal experience of planning permission projects in this region tree surveys have been requested on 
applications. 
 
I found from experience having a tree survey gives the opportunity to understand trees which would have minimal impact of 
removal & also trees which would have significant impact of removal. I also found these reports extremely useful to consider 
the root protection, age of trees & show if such a schemes would be viable. 
 
I have concerns that the trees of the woodland would be impacted greatly by a path widening scheme. Whilst I have previously 
commissioned tree surveys on my land I would see in this instance such a survey would be more appropriately commissioned by 
the County Council. 
 
Such a report would show the age of trees along the path & demonstrate if it was possible in the last 20yrs if a genuine 
bridalway was ever viable. It would also show impact of path widen on surviving trees & the number of trees which would be 
lost. 
 
I would strongly advise a report is commissioned. I have previously had a report of very high quality produced by Francis Colella, 
he has a proven track record in Staffordshire. I found the last report he produced for me to be exceptional, it allowed me to 
adjust my planning application to achieve an outbuilding but protect trees. An independent report produced by someone of this 
experience would provide the panel with the information to understand the actual impact path widening would have on 
woodland rather than just opinions. 
 
https://www.ffc‐landscapearchitects.co.uk/ 
 
I would recommend a tree survey is completed & given the scale of the path I would be concerned that this couldn’t be 
completed inside 28days & would suggest this is an essential report so should be requested straightaway. 
 
I look forward to your thoughts on this matter. 
 

Kind regards 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

To help protect your privacy, Microsoft Office prevented automatic download of this picture from the Internet.
Acton Hill Alpacas

 

 

p 1p 1

Page 192



2

VAT number 219 726392 
 

 
 

On 26 Aug 2020, at 19:22, Adkins, David (Corporate) <david.adkins@staffordshire.gov.uk> wrote: 

  
Dear   
  
Many thanks for your email regarding the above and the details contained therein. I 
have read through your comments very carefully and added them to the file. I have 
also looked through past details relating to the application. I can of course confirm 
that the application is in the system and awaiting the stage whereby a report will be 
presented to the Panel for determination. In light of this I have added your name and 
contact details to the file with the request that you be contacted and sent details of 
this for comment. Notwithstanding I have also highlighted the areas within your email 
which are pertinent to the matter – including the overall rejection of the application 
and the objection to any increase in the width of the route. At present the matter is 
pending although it is impossible to give a timeframe as to when the report will be 
put before committee. At this point there will be a full 28 day consultation period 
whereby the applicant, councils and landowners will have a further opportunity to 
present their views. It is not uncommon for us to discover new or additional 
landowners as we progress with any application and when we do these of course 
have the same rights of consultation as those we had knowledge of from the start. 
Please be assured that your comments and contact details are now lodged on file 
and that we will of course contact you once we get to the report and consultation 
stage. It is possible that I will be the contact going forward, but in any case please 
feel free to contact me at any time if you need further clarification and on any point. 
  
Kind regards 
  
Yours sincerely  
  
David  
  
  
David Adkins | Legal Officer 
Staffordshire Legal Services, Staffordshire County Council 
2 Staffordshire Place, Tipping Street, Stafford, ST16 2DH 
Tel:  
Fax: 01785 276179 
DX 712320 Stafford 5 
E‐mail: david.adkins@staffordshire.gov.uk 
  
www.staffordshirelegalservices.org.uk 
  
LF602G \ 04026891 
  
 
Disclaimer 
 
This e‐mail (including any attachments) is only for the person or organisation it is addressed to. If 
you are not the intended recipient you must let me know immediately and then delete this e‐mail. If 
you use this e‐mail without permission, or if you allow anyone else to see, copy or distribute the e‐
mail, or if you do, or don't do something because you have read this e‐mail, you may be breaking 
the law.  

p 2p 2

Page 193



3

 
Liability cannot be accepted for any loss or damage arising from this e‐mail (or any attachments) or 
from incompatible scripts or any virus transmitted.  
 
E‐mails and attachments sent to or received from staff and elected Members may be monitored and 
read and the right is reserved to reject or return or delete any which are considered to be 
inappropriate or unsuitable. 
 
Do you really need to print this email? It will use paper, add to your waste disposal costs and harm 
the environment. 

p 3p 3

Page 194



p 4p 4

Page 195



p 5p 5

Page 196



p 6p 6

Page 197



p 7p 7

Page 198



p 8p 8

Page 199



p 9p 9

Page 200



p 10p 10

Page 201



p 11p 11

Page 202



p 12p 12

Page 203





Appendix P

Page 205



p 1p 1

Page 206



p 2p 2

Page 207



p 3p 3

Page 208



p 4p 4

Page 209



p 5p 5

Page 210



p 6p 6

Page 211



p 7p 7

Page 212



p 8p 8

Page 213



p 9p 9

Page 214



p 10p 10

Page 215



p 11p 11

Page 216



p 12p 12

Page 217



p 13p 13

Page 218



p 14p 14

Page 219



p 15p 15

Page 220



p 16p 16

Page 221



p 17p 17

Page 222



p 18p 18

Page 223



p 19p 19

Page 224



p 20p 20

Page 225



p 21p 21

Page 226



p 22p 22

Page 227



p 23p 23

Page 228



p 24p 24

Page 229



p 25p 25

Page 230



p 26p 26

Page 231



p 27p 27

Page 232



p 28p 28

Page 233





Appendix Q

Page 235



p 1
p 1

Page 236



Appendix R

Page 237



p 1p 1

Page 238



Appendix S

Page 239



p 1
p 1

Page 240



Appendix T

Page 241



 
 
 

Paula Dalton Team Leader  
(Property & Development) 

Staffordshire Legal Services,  
1 Staffordshire Place,  

Stafford  
ST16 2LP 

 
        Please ask for: Paula Dalton 

 
Tel: 01785 276198 

Email: paula.dalton@staffordshire.gov.uk  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Ref: C0004565-2021                          Date: 22 May 2020 
 

Dear  

 

Re: Corporate Complaints Procedure – Stage 1 Local Resolution 

 

I am writing to advise that my investigation into the concerns you have raised has concluded 
and that I am now in a position to provide you with the Council’s response to your complaint.  

As part of the investigation process, I have carefully considered the information that you 
provided in your complaint. I have spoken with both our Countryside and Mapping sections to 
ascertain the sequence of events and to ask that they take certain actions that are detailed 
within my response below. I consider it would assist if at this point I include a very brief precis of 
the background.  

For ease of reference I will refer to the route in question as FP 18 Swynnerton throughout this 
response although a small section at the northern terminus is also on the list of publicly 
maintainable highways as the D2086, Oakwood Lane.   

The Council was approached by the new owners of the land either side of the route in March 
2019. The issue at hand was the state of the path and at the time members of the public were 
using part of the adjoining land to circumvent the underlying muddy conditions and straying off 
the route on to private land. 

Discussions then took place with those owners and with the parish council. It was suggested 
that a scheme of works could take place to repair the surface and install drainage to alleviate 
the muddy and deteriorating condition of the route. Within those conversations it was mooted 
that gates could be erected to ensure the longevity of the repairs.  

I understand that there were additional discussions held with other interested parties to 
ascertain the possibility of the erection of gates and the reaction from the locality.  

Private & Confidential 

p 1p 1

Page 242



 
 

 

The matter then lapsed until resurrected earlier this year by the owner contacting the 
Countryside section.  The repairs to the surface and the drainage were undertaken and 
completed during a dry period in April. The gates were actually installed by  the 
landowner, on 25 April 2020 although the structures had been supplied by the Council.  

There is one additional point that I would make, and that is in connection with the issue you 
have raised in regard to the ownership of the path. There is a rebuttable presumption in law that 
operates where for example there is a track that is unregistered and has no apparent owner, 
despite the land either side having registered owners. That principle is enshrined in the ad 
medium filum rule and in respect of highways, which are often not the property of the Highway 
Authority, is used to determine ownership of the subsoil. It would not be unreasonable to accept, 
in the absence of any other evidence, that the rule holds true in this case and that the ownership 
is vested in the adjoining landowner despite it being unregistered land. I appreciate the sale 
particulars and their mention of a bridleway, but they are produced for a particular purpose, to 
sell a property. They are not legally binding documents. 

I consider the acceptance by Officers that, given nothing to rebut the presumption or to refute 
the claim, that do own the land over which FP 18 Swynnerton passes, is a 
reasonable presumption in the circumstances, albeit that ownership is subject to the overriding 
interest of the public as vested in the Highway Authority.  

Complaint 1: 

Is Staffordshire County Council willing, forthwith, to remove the obstructions to horses that it has 
installed on the north west section of the application route? 

I find that the gates were erected with the intent for them to act as a measure to protect the 
works that had taken place. I find that whilst this was the intention, that this action was 
somewhat precipitous and on review ought not to have been carried out. Consequently, I accept 
that the structures should be removed, and I have enquired with the Countryside Section as to 
when this can be achieved. I have been advised that the work to remove the gates will take 
place during the week ending the 05 June 2020. It is not possible to be more precise as there 
are other factors that may have an impact upon the actual removal.  

I find that your complaint is upheld in respect of the erection of the gates.  

Complaint 2: 

By what date will Staffordshire County Council now determine application LF602G, which it has 
acted in contempt of a legal direction to determine by no later than 30th October 2019? 

The County Council has dedicated additional resources to this area of operations and continues 
to do so. Two additional members of staff have joined the team since the beginning of the year 
and another person will join in June. The team will then consist of 6 members, albeit at different 
stages of experience; it has not been possible to recruit people with the relevant knowledge and 
experience. As you will be aware it does take time for individuals to grasp the nuances of this 
work, but we are endeavouring to determine applications as quickly as possible. We have 
contacted the Secretary of State, the last communication being earlier this year, regarding the 
directions and the deadlines that we have received, to explain the situation and the fact that 
despite the allocation of resources we cannot realistically meet those dates.  

Given that there are a number of directions outstanding before this application’s given date, and 
they are all of varying degrees of complexity, I cannot provide a timescale for a determination.  

 

 

p 2p 2

Page 243



 
 

 

Complaint 3: 

Why has Staffordshire County Council authorised and facilitated obstruction of the application 
route with horses, despite its manifestly unreasonable breach and failure to even determine the 
status of the route in accord with the legal direction served on it? 

I consider that I have addressed the issue of why the gates were erected, that this action was 
erroneous and that they will be removed shortly under the heading of Complaint 1 above.   

Complaint 4: 

Why has Staffordshire County Council sanctioned and allowed a kissing gate to be installed on 
Oakridge Lane/Unclassified Road D2086, thereby creating an unlawful obstruction of the public 
highway? 

Again, I cannot add anything further, other than to state that the gates ought not to have been 
installed on the route, whether the way is referenced as the D2086, Oakwood Lane or as Fp18 
Swynnerton.  

Complaint 5: 

The internet mapping is incorrect 

I understand from your later emails that you accept that the route is correctly recorded as being 
in Swynnerton Parish. However, there is an error in that the entire line of the claim made under 
section 53 is not shown on the electronic mapping. As to how this incorrect depiction has come 
about we cannot be certain, but we are taking steps to rectify the omission. The full extent of the 
section 53 claim for FP18 Swynnerton should be shown correctly on the internet mapping by the 
end of this week, or at the very latest the beginning of next week. As you will appreciate staff 
have been diverted to other work during the current situation that the country is facing.  

I find that your complaint is upheld in part. 

As a result of your complaint, we have discussed the issue of authorised structures with the 
Countryside Section and going forward additional checks will be instigated before any are 
placed in situ.  

I do hope that I have been able to answer your concerns to your satisfaction, however if you do 
not feel that your complaint has been resolved, you may request that a review into the Stage 1 
Local Resolution takes place.  This is referred to as a Stage 2 Review.  You will need to explain 
in writing the grounds for seeking a review and be able to provide clear reasons to support your 
request, for example you are able to provide additional, relevant supporting evidence that was 
not considered as part of the original complaint investigation.  

The Complaints Team will assess your request and advise you if it is able to facilitate a further 
review of the complaint. Please ensure that you advise what outcome you would like from a 
Stage 2 Review so that this can be considered as part of your request. 

Please clearly indicate on your correspondence that you wish to request a Stage 2 Review and 
send to: 

Complaints Team 
Staffordshire County Council 
Staffordshire Place 1 
Tipping Street 
Stafford 
ST16 2DH 
 

p 3p 3

Page 244



 
 

 

Or by email to complaints&customerfeedback@staffordshire.gov.uk  

You will need to submit your request for a Stage 2 Review within 20 working days from the date 
of the response letter.  If the Council does not receive a request from you within this period, it 
will assume that you are satisfied with the response you have received and your complaint file 
will be closed.   

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

If you remain unhappy with the way in which your complaint has been handled or with the 
response that you have received, you can ask the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman to review your complaint.  

The Ombudsman investigates complaints in a fair and independent way - it does not take sides. 
It is a free service.  The Ombudsman expects you to have given us chance to deal with your 
complaint, before you contact them. If you have not heard from us within a reasonable time, it 
may decide to look into your complaint anyway. This is usually up to 12 weeks but can be longer 
for social care complaints that follow a statutory process.  Contact details for the Ombudsman 
are below. 

Website: www.lgo.org.uk 

Telephone: 0300 061 0614 

Text 'call back' to 0762 481 1595 

Opening hours 

Monday to Friday: 8.30am to 5.00pm (except public holidays) 

Important - In line with government guidance in respect of Covid 19, the Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman is not currently accepting new complaints. They will accept 
complaints again when the situation improves and government guidance changes. You can 
find the most up-to-date information at www.lgo.org.uk or by listening to the recorded 
message on 0300 061 0614. 

 
Yours sincerely 

 
 
Paula Dalton 
Property & Development – Team Leader 

p 4p 4

Page 245




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of meeting held on 8th December 2023
	4 LF602G s53 Wildlife and Countryside Act Application to upgrade Public Footpath 18 Swynnerton to a Public Bridleway
	Report
	CROW Report 

	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part3
	Appendix A
	LF602G Form 1_Redacted.pdf


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part4
	Appendix B
	LF602G Panel map.pdf


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part5
	Appendix C
	 User _A_REDACTED.pdf
	User B_REDACTED.pdf
	User C_REDACTED.pdf
	User D_REDACTED.pdf
	User E_REDACTED.pdf
	User F_REDACTED.pdf
	User G Redacted.pdf
	User H Redacted.pdf
	User I_REDACTED.pdf
	User _J_REDACTED.pdf
	User K_REDACTED.pdf
	User L_REDACTED.pdf
	User M Redacted.pdf
	User N_REDACTED.pdf


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part6
	Appendix D
	User Matrix  101123.pdf
	User Matrix  10112301.pdf


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part7
	Appendix E
	Appendix E Representatives Email


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part8
	Appendix F
	Appendix F_IR 132 6 45.pdf


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part9
	Appendix G
	Appendix G_1896 Tinted OS Map.pdf


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part10
	Appendix H
	Appendix H


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part11
	Appendix I
	Swynnerton Parish Footpath 18 - extracts from correspondance parish survey cards and maps.docx


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part12
	Appendix J
	Parish Survey Card - Whitemore 9 Bridleway.pdf


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part13
	Appendix K
	Appendix K Forestry Commission Letter


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part14
	Appendix L
	Appendix L


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part15
	Appendix M
	Appendix M


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part16
	Appendix N
	Appendix N - Landowner A


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part17
	Appendix O
	Appendix O - Landowner B


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part18
	Appendix P
	Appendix C Landowner Response


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part19
	Appendix Q
	Appendix Q - Parish Council


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part20
	Appendix R
	Appendix R SBC Response


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part21
	Appendix S
	Appendix Q - Ramblers Assoc. Response


	CROW Panel_Redacted_Bundle_201123_Part22
	Appendix T
	Appendix T - SCC Complaint




